I. INTRODUCTION. 

Res judicata and collateral estoppel were improperly applied to 

dismiss an action against Lake Stevens for negligent misrepresentation of 

its tasing requirement. Res judicata does not apply where different subject 

matter or different causes of action are involved. Collateral estoppel 

applies only to issues actually decided. In this case, the prior action only 

decided the statute of limitations applicable to a cause of action based on 

negligent tasing; it decided nothing with respect to negligent 

misrepresentation, which is a completely independent cause of action by 

Lake Stevens' own admission. 

IL ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. The Superior Court erred when it entered its order granting 

Lake Stevens summary judgment September 5, 2014. CP 69-70. 

B. The Superior Court erred when it denied reconsideration of 

its order granting Lake Stevens summary judgment and awarding Lake 

Stevens attorneys fees and CR 11 sanctions. CP 11-12. 

C. The Superior Court erred in finding "[t]his second lawsuit 

was brought in blatant violation of the claim splitting prohibition, res 

judicata, collateral estoppel, was frivolous and has harassed the City and 

caused it to incur unnecessary legal bills and expenses." CP 12. 



III. ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. Negligent tasing and negligent misrepresentation involve 

different subject matter. Can res judicata apply to dismiss a subsequent 

litigation when the two causes of action involve different subject matter? 

B. Negligent tasing and negligent misrepresentation were 

argued by Lake Stevens to be completely separate causes of action in 

order to achieve dismissal of a prior lawsuit. Should judicial estoppel 

operate to prevent Lake Stevens from taking the opposite position in this 

lawsuit in order to achieve res judicata dismissal? 

C. Negligent tasing and negligent misrepresentation are 

different causes of action. Res judicata requires identical causes of action 

to apply. Should the Superior Court have dismissed Hyde's negligent 

misrepresentation lawsuit based on resjudicata because he had previously 

filed an action against Lake Stevens for negligent tasing? 

D. Claim splitting is a res judicata doctrine. Res judicata 

cannot apply when different causes of action are involved. Should the 

Superior Court have found impermissible claim splitting and applied res 

judicata to dismiss this lawsuit based on a negligent misrepresentation 

cause of action when the previous litigation had only involved a cause of 

action for negligent tasing? 
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E. Collateral estoppel applies only to issues actually decided. 

Should collateral estoppel have been applied to dismiss this lawsuit where 

the only issue decided in the previous litigation was the statute of 

limitations applicable to Hyde's negligent tasing claim, which had nothing 

to do with the negligent misrepresentation claim made in this lawsuit? 

F. Should CR 11 sanctions have been awarded where required 

findings were not made and where it cannot be said that Hyde's claim had 

absolutely no chance of success? 

IV. STATEMENT OF CASE 

Steve Hyde was hired by the police department of the City of Lake 

Stevens to be a law enforcement officer. During the course of his training 

he was told it was mandatory that he be tased. Hyde stated he did not 

want to be tased; his training officer told him he had to be tased ifhe 

wanted the job. CP 164. 

Subsequently, Hyde was tased. The tasing caused him to suffer 

serious injury. He is permanently disabled. CP 164. 

Hyde later learned that the taser had been improperly applied to 

him. CP 164. He filed suit for negligence against the City of Lake 

Stevens (the prior lawsuit). CP 178. 

During the course of the prior lawsuit against Lake Stevens, the 

Lake Stevens police chief was deposed June 30, 2011. At that time Hyde 
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learned for the first time that, contrary to the training officer's 

representation, being tased was not a requirement of the job. CP 165. 

Lake Stevens moved for summary judgment in the prior lawsuit on 

a number of grounds, including the statute oflimitations. CP 245. Hyde 

pointed out that the statute of limitations could not have run on his claim 

that the requirement that he be tased had been misrepresented by the 

training officer. CP 130, CP 134-CP 138.1 In reply Lake Stevens 

successfully argued negligent misrepresentation of the tasing requirement 

was a brand new cause of action that had never been in the case. CP 142-

3. Summary judgment was granted and Hyde appealed all bases of the 

grant of summary judgment to the Court of Appeals. CP 182; CP 146-50. 

The Court of Appeals agreed with Lake Stevens' position that 

negligent misrepresentation had never been in the negligent tasing case. 

CP 159. It then found the statute of limitations had expired with respect 

to Hyde's claim for negligent tasing. The Court of Appeals did not 

address any of the other issues that had been appealed by Hyde. CP 160-1. 

1 See Appendix A for legible copies ofCP 134-138. Clerk's papers provided by 
Snohomish County Superior Court were illegible in places, due to copy error related to 
highlighting in the original documents. 
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Hyde subsequently filed this lawsuit based on his negligent 

misrepresentation cause of action. CP 266-8. Lake Stevens moved for 

summary judgment, claiming res judicata, collateral estoppel and asking 

for attorneys fees and sanctions under CR 11. CP 213. Hyde opposed, 

pointing out that res judicata does not apply to different causes of action 

and that collateral estoppel only applies to issues actually decided in the 

prior litigation. CP 120-9. 

The Superior Court granted summary judgment. CP 5-6. 

Reconsideration was moved for and denied. CP 54-65. The Superior 

Court additionally awarded Lake Stevens attorney fees totaling $17,145.00 

and sanctions of$5,000.00. CP 11-12. 

This appeal timely followed. CP 1. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Res Judicata should not have been applied to dismiss this 

cause because there is no identity of either subject matter or cause of 

action with a prior litigation. 

Whether res judicata bars an action is reviewed de novo. 

Berschaver Phillips Const. Co. v. Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co., 175 

Wn.App. 222, 227, 308 P.3d 681 (2013). The party asserting resjudicata 

has the burden of proving that the action involves the same subject matter, 
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cause of action, persons or parties, and quality of persons as a prior 

adjudication. Williams v. Leona & Keeble Inc., 171 Wn.2d 726, 730, 254 

P .3d 818 (2011 ). Res judicata requires satisfaction of all four elements for 

it to apply. Loveridge v. Fred Meyer, Inc., 125 Wn.2d 759, 763, 887 P.2d 

898 ( 1995). Res judicata also requires a final judgment on the merits. 

Schoeman v. New York Life Ins. Co., 106 Wn.2d 885, 860, 726 P .2d 1 

(1986). 

1. Res judicata cannot apply because the subject 

matter of this cause of action is whether the tasing requirement was 

misrepresented while the subject matter of the prior lawsuit was whether 

the tasing itself was negligently performed. 

The Superior Court found res judicata mandated dismissal of this 

cause. For resjudicata to apply the Supreme Court of the State of 

Washington has stated that the subsequent action must be " ... identical 

with a previous action in four respects: (1) the same subject matter; (2) 

same cause of action; (3) same persons or parties; ( 4) the same quality of 

the persons for or against whom the claim is made." Hayes v. City of 

Seattle, 131 Wn.2d 706, 712, 934 P.2d 1179 (1997). lfthere is a lack of 

identity between the two actions with respect to any of the four elements, 

there can be no resjudicata. Loveridge, 125 Wn.2d at 763. 
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With respect to elements 3 and 4 there is identity. The same 

parties are involved in both actions, and the quality of the involved 

persons is the same in both actions. The same cannot be said for elements 

1and2. 

Element 1 requires that the subject matter be the same in both 

actions. The Washington Supreme Court emphasized in Hayes that "two 

lawsuits ... do not concern the same subject matter simply because they 

both arise out of the same set of facts." Id. 

Hayes involved a man, Michael Hayes, who appealed a Seattle 

City Council imposition of restrictions on a master use permit which had 

been previously approved. He filed a complaint for judicial review, 

contending the Council had acted arbitrarily and capriciously. The 

Superior Court ruled the findings of the Council had been conclusory and 

remanded to the Council with instructions to identify adverse impacts and 

how the restrictions would mitigate the identified adverse impacts. The 

Seattle Council reconsidered and approved the master use permit without 

restriction. Mr. Hayes then filed another action in King County Superior 

Court asking for damages, costs and attorney fees. Seattle defended, 

contending res judicata barred the action because Hayes' action for 

damages was not joined with his earlier filed action based on the same 

transaction. Id. at 710-11. 
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The Washington Supreme Court in Hayes pointed out that in a 

prior case, Mellor v. Chamberlin, 100 Wn.2d 643, 673 P.2d 610 (1983), it 

had held two lawsuits arising from the same real estate transaction did not 

involve the same subject matter. The Hayes court described the facts of 

Mellor as follows: 

In the first of those lawsuits, a buyer ofland contended 
that the seller had misrepresented the extent of the 
property included in the sale. That lawsuit was settled 
and an order of dismissal with prejudice was thereafter 
entered. Shortly thereafter, the buyer brought a second 
lawsuit claiming that the seller breached a covenant of 
warranty. The buyer prevailed in that action on the 
theory that an adjoining landowner's encroachment 
onto the property breached the seller's warranty of quiet 
and peaceful possession. 

Hayes at 712. 

After explaining that two lawsuits do not involve the same subject 

matter simply because they both arise out of the same set of facts, the 

Hayes court held that, although Mr. Hayes had brought two lawsuits out of 

the same set of facts, they did not involve the same subject matter for 

purposes of res judicata "because the nature of the two claims is entirely 

disparate." Hayes at 713. The court explained: 

The action for judicial review focused exclusively on 
the propriety of the decision making process of the 
Seattle City Council. On the other hand, the subsequent 
action was for a judgment for money to compensate 
Hayes for the damages he allegedly suffered as a result 
of the Council's action. 
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In the case at bar the prior lawsuit was based on the claim that the 

method oftaser application to Hyde was negligent. The current lawsuit is 

based on the claim that the training officer had negligently misrepresented 

that Hyde had to undergo tasing. The subject matter of the two claims is 

clearly different. The two claims even had different statutes of limitation. 

The statute oflimitation with respect to the negligent tasing claim was 

found to begin running at the moment of tasing in the previous litigation. 

CP 160-1. The negligent misrepresentation claim did not begin running 

until Hyde discovered the misrepresentation, which was when the Lake 

Stevens police chief was deposed, 2 years after Hyde was tased. CP 165. 

The only issue decided in Hyde's prior lawsuit was that the statute 

of limitations had run on the negligent tasing claim. The subject matter of 

the case at bar was not decided and there was no finding that the statute of 

limitations with respect to negligent misrepresentation had run. 

The subject matter of the case at bar is not the statute of limitations 

applicable to the negligent tasing cause of action. If the prior case bars 

this one, it is in effect a finding that the expiration of the statute of 

limitations as to one cause of action extinguishes all other causes of action 

even if they have statutes of limitations which have not yet expired. 
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Res judicata dismissal was erroneous because the subject matter of 

this lawsuit is not identical with the subject matter of the prior lawsuit. 

2. Res judicata dismissal cannot apply here because 

the negligent misrepresentation cause of action is different from the 

negligent tasing cause of action. 

In addition to the same subject matter, res judicata also requires 

that both lawsuits involve the same cause of action. A lack of identity 

between causes of action is fatal to res judicata. Loveridge, 125 Wn.2d at 

763. 

This lawsuit and the prior lawsuit not only involve different subject 

matter, they also involve different causes of action. The simplest proof of 

that is the fact that Lake Stevens defended the first lawsuit by successfully 

taking the position that negligent misrepresentation and negligent tasing 

were completely independent causes of action. CP 142-3 (Appendix A). 

However, even if Lake Stevens had not taken this position in the prior 

litigation, the case law reveals that this in fact is the case. 

This subsection will first discuss judicial estoppel as it relates to 

Lake Stevens' position shift with respect to the independence of the causes 

of action. It will then explain how the causes of action are independent 

even if Lake Stevens is allowed to take the opposite position in this 

litigation. Finally, it will discuss how claim splitting was improperly used 
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as a basis for dismissal and that the Superior Court's application of claim 

splitting is at odds with the case law and CR 18. 

a. Judicial estoppel prevents Lake Stevens 

from taking the position that negligent tasing and negligent 

misrepresentation are completely independent causes of action in Hyde's 

first lawsuit in order to accomplish statute of limitations dismissal of the 

negligent taser application case and then to in subsequent litigation take 

the position that they are the same cause of action to accomplish dismissal 

based on res judicata. 

"Judicial estoppel is an equitable doctrine that precludes a party 

from asserting one position in a court proceeding and later seeking an 

advantage by taking a clearly inconsistent position." Arkison v. Ethan 

Allan, Inc., 160 Wn.2d 535, 538, 160 P.3d 13 (2007). A purpose of the 

doctrine is to protect the intergrity of the judicial process. New 

Hampshire v. Maine, 532 U.S. 742, 749, 121 S.Ct. 1808, 149 L.Ed.2d 968 

(2001). 

Three core factors guide application of judicial estoppel. First, the 

court considers whether the party's later position must be clearly 

inconsistent with its earlier position. Second, the court considers whether 

judicial acceptance of the inconsistent position in a later proceeding would 

create the perception that either the first or second court was misled. 
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Third, the court considers whether the party asserting the inconsistent 

position would either derive an unfair advantage or impose an unfair 

deteriment on the other party is not estopped. Arkison, 160 Wn.2d at 538-

39. 

Turning to the facts involved here, in the prior lawsuit Lake 

Stevens successfully made a motion to dismiss based on a statute of 

limitations, which it had argued began running the day Officer Hyde was 

negligently tased, June 11, 2009. CP 245. Hyde pointed out that 

dismissal was not appropriate because he did not learn of the negligent 

misrepresentation of the requirement that he be tased until the day the 

chief was deposed June 30, 2011, which was well within the statute of 

limitations. CP 121. 

Inclusion of Hyde's misrepresentation claim in the prior lawsuit 

would have been fatal to Lake Stevens' statute oflimitations defense, and 

Lake Stevens aggressively argued negligent misrepresentation was a 

different cause of action which had never been in the case. Specifically, 

Lake Stevens stated: 

Hyde urges the court to divine a 
negligent misrepresentation claim from his 
Complaint where no such cause of action 
was previously pied, asserted in discovery, 
or argued in the voluminous pleadings .... 

. . . . Hyde's argument based on a 
brand new cause of action should be 
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rejected. 

CP 142-3. 2 

In the case at bar Lake Stevens successfully moved for summary 

judgment based on res judicata. This clearly conflicts with their earlier 

assertion that the causes of action were completely independent, because 

res judicata cannot apply where causes of action are independent. 

The scenario thus that is in the prior lawsuit Lake Stevens 

successfully accomplished statute oflimitations dismissal by claiming 

negligent misrepresentation was an independent cause of action which had 

not been pled and had therefore never been in the case. It then reversed 

field in the second litigation and successfully claimed res judicata, which 

by definition cannot apply unless the causes of action are the same. 

Either the first court was misled or the second court was misled. 

Lake Stevens achieved unfair advantage with its inconsistent positions and 

imposed unfair detriment on Mr. Hyde. 

For res judicata to apply causes of action must be identical. 

Hayes, 131 Wn.2d 706, 712, 934 P.2d 1179 (1997). Lake Stevens in the 

2 Readable copies ofCP 142-3 are attached as Appendix A. Clerk's papers provided by 
Snohomish County Superior Court were illegible in places, due to copy error related to 
highlighting in the original documents. 
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first litigation took the position that negligent tasing and negligent 

misrepresentation are independent causes of action. They cannot claim 

otherwise to achieve res judicata in this litigation. 

Lake Stevens is bound by its prior assertion that negligent 

misrepresentation was a brand new cause of action. As a brand new cause 

of action, negligent misrepresentation cannot be dismissed based on res 

judicata. 

b. Even if Lake Stevens were not bound to its 

prior position by judicial estoppel, negligent tasing and negligent 

misrepresentation are in fact different causes of action. 

The cause of action is the tort, the wrongful conduct, not the 

damages flowing from the wrong. Sprague v. Adams, 139 Wash. 510, 247 

P. 960 (1926). The term "cause of action" actually reveals this. The 

"cause" of the action is the wrongful conduct. The "result" of the 

wrongful conduct is the damage. 

Sprague involved a motor vehicle accident. Mrs. Sprague was 

injured when defendant's taxicab ran into her Ford sedan. She initiated an 

action in justice court to recover for damage to her vehicle which resulted 

in a judgment in her favor. She then instituted another action in Superior 

Court to recover for the injuries to her person. The defendant argued res 

judicata prevented the second action. 
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The Washington Supreme Court in Sprague analyzed whether or 

not res judicata operated to prevent Mrs. Sprague from splitting her claim. 

In the course of its analysis the Supreme Court had to determine what 

constituted the cause of action. It pointed out that the English rule would 

have permitted Mrs. Sprague to bring separate actions for property 

damage and personal injuries, stating: 

The English rule ... is based on the proposition that 
the cause of action rests not on the negligent act, but 
on the consequence of the wrong, from which it is 
argued that separate proceedings may be instituted for 
the different injuries as they accrue. 

Id. at 519. 

Sprague noted that the English rule went against the weight of 

United States authority. It found that the cause of action was the wrongful 

act, not the consequences of the wrongful act. The Washington Supreme 

Court stated: "If the cause of action is the wrongful act, and we so hold, 

then all the damages sustained thereby, whether to person or property, are 

properly sought in one suit." Id. Sprague concluded: 

We are of the opinion that the decided weight of 
authority in this country supports the view that 
damages resulting from a single tort, even though such 
damages be partly property damages and partly 
personal injury damages, are, when suffered by one 
person, the subject of only one suit as against the 
wrongdoer. 

Id. at 520. 
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The point of Sprague is that the cause of action is the tort or 

wrongful act. The damages flowing from a single tort cannot be split into 

multiple lawsuits. 

Sprague is still good law and is frequently cited. The evolved case 

law has continued to define causes of action in terms of the wrongful act, 

not the consequential damages. 

The wrongful act or tort involved in this lawsuit is different from 

the wrongful act or tort involved in the prior lawsuit. The wrongful act in 

the prior lawsuit was tasing Mr. Hyde in a negligent manner. The 

wrongful act or tort in this lawsuit was the training officer negligently 

misrepresenting that Mr. Hyde had to be subjected to tasing ifhe wanted 

the job. These are separate torts and by extension are separate causes of 

action, since Sprague makes it clear the wrongful act, not the 

consequential damage, is the cause of action. In the case at bar we had 

two separate torts leading to the same damages. Under Sprague these are 

different causes of action. We have already established there is no res

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