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

In the Seattle-First case, the lawsuit claims arose from a 

13 See discussion of Hayes above. 
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complicated series of legal instruments with different dates. Because the 

instruments previously litigated were issued in completely different years 

- and in fact over five years apart - the claim-splitting prohibition under 

res judicata analysis did not apply. 

This action was brought for an accounting under two 
instruments executed by the respondent George Y. 
Kawachi in 1961 and 1962. Upon motion of the 
respondent, the action was dismissed, the court finding that 
the claims were barred by the judgment rendered in King 
County Superior Court Cause No. 729191. In that action 
the appellant, as executor, had pursued an action instituted 
by Shizu Kato against the respondents and one Wada for 
the sum of $100,000, which she claimed her husband had 
placed in the hands of Mr. Kawachi and Wada, in 1967, for 
safekeeping. The jury returned a verdict against the 
defendant Wada, who had by deposition admitted receipt of 
the sum of $89,000, and who had then defaulted and 
disappeared. The verdict exonerated the respondents of 
liability in that transaction 

Seattle-First Nat. Bank, 91 Wn.2d 223, 224. After analyzing several 

different fact patterns, the court stated that the key to the court's res 

judicata analysis was as follows: 

In each of these cases, those claims which were found to be 
barred were matters which were included in the controversy 
adjudicated in the prior action or proceeding. None of 
them held that independent claims, arising out of separate 
transactions, are barred because they could have been 
asserted in an earlier action. 

Id. at 227. 

In the Fluke Capital case, the lawsuit claims arose out of complex string 

of commercial real estate transactions transpiring over more than a decade 
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to include defaults, judicial and non-judicial foreclosures, an action on a 

note, related financial instruments with different issue dates and operative 

effects, and venue changes during the complex litigation. Fluke Capital & 

Mgmt. Servs. Co., 106 Wn.2d 614, 615-18. (internal footnotes omitted). 

Following foreclosure actions, the court allowed a new suretyship theory 

based on a new financial instrument to be litigated in a second lawsuit. 14 

The Court of Appeals reversed based on collateral estoppel 

grounds (not res judicata) reasoning that denials of a summary judgment 

motion do not create conclusive final judgments such that the issue has 

previously been litigated: 

Here, contrary to Richmond's assertions, no conclusive 
decision was rendered on Fluke's initial suretyship cross 
claim. The trial court heard two pretrial motions on the 
claim; the court denied Fluke's motion for summary 
judgment and denied Richmond's motion for dismissal on 
summary judgment. Neither ruling can be characterized as 
a decision on the merits of Fluke's claim. 

Id. at 618. Moreover, the "could have and should have" argument was 

inapplicable because the litigant was only arguing a theory of collateral 

estoppel and not res judicata. Id. at 620. 15 

14 A detailed statement ofthese complex facts are found at Fluke, 615-18. 
15 Addressing res judicata in passing, the court highlighted the following that applies 
conclusively to Hyde's case: 

Under the doctrine of res judicata, or claim preclusion, a claim decided 
in a prior action cannot be raised in a subsequent action. Restatement, 
supra, § 17. A claim includes "all rights of the [claimant) to remedies 
against the defendant with respect to all or any part of the 
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Hyde's effort to bootstrap inapposite commercial transaction fact patterns 

and legal analysis into the current personal injury tort action, without at all 

distinguishing the controlling law previously briefed by the City, 

demonstrates the spurious nature of Plaintiffs' current appeal. 

1. There is No Judicial Estoppel Impediment Here. 

Hyde's argument of judicial estoppel is at best a red herring. App. 

Br. at 11-14. 

Broadly stated, the rule of preclusion of inconsistent 
positions prevents a person from making assertions of fact 
inconsistent with a position that person previously took in 
litigation. The rule applies only to inconsistent assertions 
of fact; it is not applicable to inconsistent positions taken 
on points of law. 

14A Wash. Prac., Civil Procedure§ 35:57 (2d ed. 2014). This rule oflaw 

is most commonly applied to proceedings where a pending civil suit is not 

disclosed in a bankruptcy proceeding. Id. "Judicial estoppel is an 

equitable doctrine that precludes a party from gaining an advantage by 

asserting one position in a court proceeding and later seeking an advantage 

by taking a clearly inconsistent position." Cunningham v. Reliable 

Concrete Pumping, Inc., 126 Wn. App. 222, 224-25, 108 P.3d 147, 148 

transaction, or series of connected transactions, out of which the 
action arose", without regard to whether the issues actually were 
raised or litigated. Restatement, supra, § 24( 1 ), at 196. See Sanwick v. 
Puget Sound Title Ins. Co., 70 Wn.2d 438, 423 P.2d 624 (1967). See 
also Trautman, 60 Wash. L. Rev. at 813-19. 

Fluke, at 620 (emph. added). 
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(2005). 

In the case at bar, the City has consistently and correctly 

highlighted that the negligent misrepresentation legal theory was not 

actually pied as a legal claim in an amended complaint, so it could not be 

pursued in the first lawsuit. Nonetheless, using the flexible principles of 

analysis for res judicata for determining the "same cause of action", the 

City has also consistently and correctly argued that (a) allowing the 

second lawsuit to go forward would eviscerate the City's rights to enforce 

the first summary judgment order to include the various defenses already 

adjudicated, (b) substantially the same evidence would be presented in the 

second suit, ( c) violation of the same rights are being alleged, and ( d) the 

claim was a part of a series of connected transactions and common 

grouping of operational facts; overall, as a part of the res judicata legal 

principles of merger and bar, the negligent misrepresentation theory is a 

part of the same cause of action that could and should have been pled if in 

fact Hyde wished to recover from that theory. Judicial estoppel has no 

applicability here. 

2. The Collateral Estoppel Doctrine Would Be Eviscerated 
by Hyde's Unsupported Legal Analysis. 

Hyde argues that because this Court did not rule on any of the 

summary judgment issues except the sufficiency of process and statute of 
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limitations issues, the trial court's summary judgment order no longer has 

legal affect. App. Br at 23-24, passim. The repeated bold assertion of 

this argument, while ignoring contrary controlling authority, belies its 

foundation. See, e.g., 14A Wash. Prac., Civil Procedure § 35:23, K. 

Tegland (2d ed 2014); Ensley at 899; Kar/berg at 535. The first summary 

judgment order remains in full force and effect precisely because it was 

not reversed by the appellate court. Hyde's unsupported postulations 

notwithstanding, there has been no court action at the trial court or on 

appeal that adversely impacts the trial court's final and binding summary 

judgment order. 

G. The Court Should Affirm the Trial Court's Reasonable 
Exercise of Discretion to Award CR 11 Attorney Fees and 
Sanctions. 

1. The Sanctions are Supported by the Court's Findings. 

"A trial court's decision to grant or deny attorney fees will not be 

disturbed in the absence of an abuse of discretion. Discretion may be 

abused, however, if based on untenable grounds." Deja Vu-Everett-Fed 

Way, Inc. v. City Of Fed Way, 96 Wn. App. 255, 263-64, 979 P.2d 464, 

468 (1999), citing, Layne v. Hyde, 54 Wn. App. 125, 135, 773 P.2d 83 

(1989). After "considering the entire record and resolving all doubts in 

favor of [the non-moving party]," where the action "is not supported by 

any rational argument based on the law or the facts," attorney fees are 

38 



properly ordered. Id (reversing order denying attorney fees based on an 

independent review of the record and remanding for imposition of fees) 

Blatant violations of res judicata and collateral estoppel warrant 

imposition of attorney fees under CR 11 and RCW 4.84.185. Id 

Washington courts likewise review an award of CR 11 sanctions 

for abuse of discretion. Biggs v. Vail, 124 Wn.2d 193, 197, 876 P.2d 448 

(1994). The range of discretionary choices is a question of law and the 

judge abuses his or her discretion if the discretionary decision is contrary 

to law. State v. Neal, 144 Wn.2d 600, 609, 30 P.3d 1255 (2001). 16 

CR 11. 

CR 1 l(a) provides in relevant part: 

The signature of a party or of an attorney constitutes a 
certificate by the party or attorney that the party or attorney 
has read the pleading, motion, or legal memorandum, and 
that to the best of the party's or attorney's knowledge, 
information and belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable 
under the circumstances: (1) it is well grounded in fact; (2) 
it is warranted by existing law or a good faith argument for 
the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law or 
the establishment of new law ... 

16 See also, N. Coast Elec. Co. v. Selig, 136 Wn. App. 636, 642-43, 151P.3d211, 215 
(2007): 

When reviewing an award of attorney fees, the relevant inquiry is first, whether the 
prevailing party was entitled to attorney fees, and second, whether the award of fees is 
reasonable. Whether a party is entitled to attorney fees is an issue of law, which is 
reviewed de nova. Whether the amount of fees awarded was reasonable is reviewed for 
an abuse of discretion. A trial judge is given broad discretion in determining the 
reasonableness of an award, and in order to reverse that award, it must be shown that the 
trial court manifestly abused its discretion. 
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In Hyde's case, the trial court's order awarding fees and monetary 

sanctions found that the lawsuit was frivolous and harassing, and 

concluded: "This second lawsuit was brought in blatant violation of the 

claim splitting prohibition, res judicata, collateral estoppel, was frivolous, 

and has harassed the City and caused it to incur unnecessary legal bills and 

expenses." Before awarding fees and sanctions, the court provided Hyde 

with an additional opportunity to brief the issue. CP 70-71. The Order 

was based on the pleadings and declarations of record. CP 1-268, to 

include the affidavit in support of fees. CP 28-50. 

Judge Downes is the same judge who considered the record in 

support of the motion for pre-assignment to the original trial court (Judge 

Appel). CP 72-81; 103-117; 226-268. He then kept the file and decided 

the summary judgment order currently at issue. CP 69-70. Hyde pursued 

his second case even though the City thoroughly briefed Division One 

precedent on preclusion rules in its motion for pre-assignment and reply 

brief. CP 228-232; 237-257. CR 11 sanctions properly flow from a trial 

court's findings that "either the claim is not grounded in fact or law and 

the attorney or party failed to make a reasonable inquiry into the law or 

facts, or the paper was filed for an improper purpose." Biggs, at 201. The 

trial court's conclusions, fees and sanctions award should be affirmed as a 

resasonable exercise of discretion. 
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As emphasized repeatedly, the claim splitting prohibition, res 

judicata, and collateral estoppel, promote judicial economy and serve to 

prevent inconvenience or harassment of parties; such also implicate 

principles of repose and concerns about the resources entailed in repetitive 

litigation; these rules provide for finality in adjudications and respect for 

the judicial process. Id. Tegland, Civil Procedure § 35.21, at 446. 

Trautman, Claim and Issue Preclusion, 60 Wash. L. Rev., at 806; 

Christensen at 306-307. This clearly established policy was blatantly 

violated by Hyde. 

After being thrice advised via defense counsel's letters and the 

City's Answer that the second lawsuit violates the preclusion rules -- with 

case citations to applicable law -- and after receiving the City's briefing on 

controlling legal and Treatise provisions (to include the Ensley rule that a 

motion for summary judgment order is a final judgment providing a 

necessary threshold for res judicata (CP 209-212; 259-261)), Hyde's 

counsel ignored the rules of preclusion and continued to litigate -

completely ignoring well settled law. As outlined above, Hyde's second 

lawsuit is not supported by any rational argument based on the law or 

facts; in fact, Hyde ignored and disregarded this Court's clear contrary 

authority in order to make the arguments below, and he continues to do so 

on appeal. Such is undoubtedly considered a blatant CR 11 violation 
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deserving of a sanction and award of reasonable attorney fees as described 

herein. 

On review of an order awarding CR 11 sanctions, Washington 

courts explain, "we must keep in mind that '[t]he purpose behind CR 11 is 

to deter baseless filings and to curb abuses of the justice system."' Biggs, 

124 Wn.2d at 197, quoting Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc., 119 Wn.2d 210, 

219, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992). Sanctions may be imposed under this rule if a 

complaint lacks a factual or legal basis and the attorney or party who 

signed it failed to conduct a reasonable inquiry into the factual or legal 

basis of the action. Bryant, 119 Wn.2d at 220. See also, 9 Wash. Prac., 

Civil Procedure Forms§ 11.1 (3d ed.); 3 Wash. Prac., Rules Practice CR 

11 (7th ed.) (collection of cases and analysis for awarding CR 11 fees and 

sanctions). 

Appellate Courts employ an objective standard to determine 

whether a reasonable attorney in like circumstances could believe his or 

her actions to be factually and legally justified at the time the pleading was 

submitted. Id. A frivolous action is one that cannot be supported by any 

rational argument on the law or the facts. Ahmad v. Town of Springdale, 

178 Wn. App. 333, 344, 314 P.3d 729 (2013) (rev. gr., 180Wn.2d1013 

(2014)), citing, Goldmark v. McKenna, 172 Wn.2d 568, 582, 259 P.3d 

1095 (2011). 
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2. The Sanctions are Supported by Alternative Grounds. 

The court can award CR 11 attorney fees for either (1) filing a 

frivolous lawsuit (without factual or legal basis and lack of reasonable 

inquiry), or (2) filing a lawsuit for an improper purpose. See, e.g., Bryant, 

119 Wn.2d 210, 217. These are considered alternative violations, and 

either can result in an award of attorney fees. Id; See also Harrington v. 

Pailthorp, 67 Wn. App. 901, 912, 841 P.2d 1258 (1992). In this case, 

Hyde both filed a frivolous lawsuit and did so for an improper harassing 

purpose after being repeatedly advised by defense counsel of the 

controlling law. As a matter of well settled law, the Order awarding CR 

11 attorney fees and sanctions should be affirmed on both alternative 

grounds as a reasonable exercise of discretion. 

Alternatively, if the appellate court is unsatisfied with the trial 

court's findings, "instead of remanding a matter to the trial court for a 

factual finding, an appellate court may independently review evidence 

consisting of written documents and make the required findings." Bryant, 

at 222. In Hyde's case, defense counsel's correspondence and motion for 

pre-assignment briefing clearly apprised Hyde of the controlling case-law 

and Hyde nonetheless proceeded while ignoring established precedent. 

CP 103-117; 226-268. The trial court record squarely supports a finding 

of "lack ofreasonable inquiry." 
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If the court were persuaded that the trial court's findings are 

insufficient, the court may also affirm on the alternative grounds that the 

lawsuit was frivolous under RCW 4.84.185. A trial court judgment may 

be affirmed by any basis supported by the record. Clipse v. State of 

Washington, et. al., 61 Wn. App. 94, 98, 808 P.2d 777 (1991), citing, 

Wendie v. Farrow, 102 Wn.2d 380, 382, 686 P.2d 480 (1984) (CR 11 

sanctions affirmed on CR 26 grounds); see also, 15A Wash. Prac., 

Handbook Civil Procedure§ 8.10 (2014-2015 ed.) (collection of cases and 

analysis supporting the court's discretion to impose sanctions for factually 

and legally baseless suits). RCW 4.84.185 provides an alternative basis 

for an award of attorney fees and costs when the action as a whole is 

found to be frivolous. Bert Kuty Revocable Living Trust ex rel. Nakano v. 

Mullen, 175 Wn. App. 292, 306 P.3d 994 (2013); Deja vu-Everett-Fed. 

Way, at 203-04. No formal findings regarding reasonable inquiry are 

called for under RCW 4.84.185. On multiple grounds, the trial court's 

reasonable exercise of discretion should be affirmed. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

The City of Lake Stevens respectfully urges the court to affirm this 

second summary judgment order dismissing Hyde's second suit that is 

based on the same June 2009 Taser training incident that was previously 

dismissed on summary judgment and affirmed on appeal. The 2012 
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summary judgment order is a final judgment against Hyde, and the trial 

court's alternative grounds for dismissing the first negligence suit are 

equally applicable to Hyde's second suit based on a new negligent 

misrepresentation claim. The following legal doctrines require dismissal 

of this second lawsuit: the claim splitting prohibition; res judicata; and 

collateral estoppel.

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